1993

Life Insurance Company of Virginia v. West One Bank, Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1992), and the Order of the Supreme Court of Utah, dated July 26, 1993, pouring-over this case.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the claims of West One Bank ("West One") as an assignee are defective under Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-318(1) because the right of Appellant Life Insurance Company of Virginia ("LOV") to retain commissions in payment of funds advanced to United Underwriters, Inc. ("UUI") accrued before LOV received the required statutory notice of West One's assignment interest.

2. Whether lack of an effective notice of assignment bars West One from receiving a double payment benefit, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-318(3).

3. Whether West One waived its claims based on Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-306(2), or is estopped from asserting them under principles of common law.

4. Whether, because West One's claimed rights were exercisable only on default of UUI, the failure by West One to establish the date of default by UUI created an issue of fact which made summary judgment inappropriate.

Standard of Review: This appeal contests the granting of summary judgment. Since summary judgment is granted as a

matter of law, the Court may review the District Court's conclusions of law without according them any deference, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Appellants. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989). Summary judgment is not appropriate where there is an issue of material fact, and a genuine issue of fact exists where, on the basis of the facts in the record, reasonable minds could differ. Jackson v. Dabney, 645 P.2d 613 (Utah 1982).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-1-103 (1990)

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-1-106 (1990)

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-1-205 (1990)

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(2) (1990)

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-311 (1990)

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-318(1), (3) (1990)

Rule 56, U. R. Civ. P.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of Case.

Appellant LOV entered into an insurance brokerage contract with United Underwriters, Inc. ("UUI") in 1984 (the "Brokerage Contract"). Under the brokerage Contract, LOV agreed to pay UUI commissions on any LOV insurance policies sold by UUI.

In late 1987, West One's predecessor, Continental Bank, loaned UUI \$1,500,000 evidenced by a promissory note ("Note"). To secure payment of the Note, UUI executed and delivered to West One a Collateral Pledge Agreement ("Pledge Agreement") giving West One a security interest in commissions payable to UUI from various insurance companies, including the commissions due from LOV under the Brokerage Contract.

As required by the Pledge Agreement, in late 1987, UUI executed and delivered to West One an Assignment and a related Assignment of Contracts as Collateral dated December 22, 1987 in which UUI assigned to West One all sums of money due or to become due to UUI from LOV under the Brokerage Contract. Also in December 1987, West One sent LOV a written Notice of Assignment (the "Notice") informing LOV of the assignment, but without directing LOV to make all future commissions under the Brokerage Contract to it, West One.

LOV acknowledged that it had received the Notice, but since it had not been directed otherwise, LOV continued to pay the commissions to UUI without any objection from West One. On March 2, 1988, West One perfected its security interest in the Brokerage Contract by filing a UCC-1 Financing Statement with the Utah Department of Commerce and Commercial Code.

On or about March 1, 1989, LOV advanced \$100,000 to UUI evidenced by a promissory note and an assignment of all of UUI's right, title and interest in and to any and all commissions to which UUI was entitled under the Brokerage Contract. The assignment agreement specified that LOV would pay UUI the commissions by credits to repay the loan balance, as was their custom, and as is widely practiced in the industry. In 1989 and 1990, LOV applied part of the commissions as they were earned by UUI to satisfy UUI's debt on the \$100,000 loan.

In 1992, West One filed a complaint alleging that UUI defaulted on the Note and Pledge Agreement while owing West One in excess of \$668,000, but without identifying the date of default, and alleging that LOV had wrongfully retained the commissions payable to UUI.

Until shortly before the filing of this action by West One in 1992, LOV was unaware of UUI's alleged default on its obligations to West One; and West One never directed LOV to pay West One the commissions owed under the Brokerage Contract.

The trial court granted West One's Motion for Summary Judgment, ordering LOV to pay to West One all of the commissions retained by LOV as payment on UUI's Promissory Note to LOV. LOV brings this appeal because the trial court's entry of Summary

Judgment is contrary to theories of common law and provisions of the UCC as adopted by Utah.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition At Trial Court.

This is an appeal from a summary judgment in the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Judge Glenn K. Iwasaki presiding. The "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and Judgment" which is the subject of this appeal was signed by the Trial Court on May 11, 1993 and entered on May 28, 1993.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Pursuant to a Brokerage contract dated October 22, 1986 and effectively dated January 1, 1984 ("Brokerage contract") between UUI and LOV, LOV agreed to pay UUI certain insurance commissions. (Record, Page 121.) (All Record page numbers referred to hereafter are attached as the Addendum.)

2. On or about December 22, 1987, West One loaned UUI \$1,500,000, which obligation was evidenced by a promissory note ("Note") of even amount. (Record, Page 121.)

3. To secure payment of the Note, UUI executed and delivered to West One a Collateral Pledge Agreement ("Pledge Agreement") whereby West One obtained a security interest in, among other things, the right to receive certain commissions payable to UUI from various insurance companies, including the

commissions due from defendant LOV under the Brokerage contract.
(Record, Page 121.)

4. As part of the Pledge Agreement, UUI executed and delivered to West One an Assignment dated December 22, 1987 in which UUI assigned to West One all sums of money due or to become due to UUI from LOV under the Brokerage contract. (Record, Pages 84, 121.)

5. The Assignment is part of an Assignment of Contracts as Collateral dated December 22, 1987 and executed by UUI and West One.

6. Paragraph 7. of the Assignment of Contracts describes Remedies available to West One "upon or at any time after default." (Record, Page 88.) Therefore, West One had no remedies as an assignee until UUI was in default to West One.

7. In December 1987, West One sent LOV a written Notice of Assignment. The Notice of Assignment provides that "upon written notice from [West One], all monies due or to become due under the [Brokerage contract] are to be paid to [West One] pursuant to this Assignment." The Notice of Assignment does not direct LOV to make payments directly to West One. (Emphasis added.) (Record, Pages 42, 122.)

8. On December 30, 1987, LOV acknowledged receipt of the Notice of Assignment. (Record, Page 122.)

9. West One perfected its security interest in the above-described collateral by filing a UCC-1 Financing statement with the Utah Department of commerce and commercial code on March 2, 1988. (Record, Page 122.)

10. On or about March 1, 1989, UUI borrowed \$100,000 from LOV evidenced by a promissory note in favor of LOV. To secure its obligation, UUI assigned to LOV all of its right, title and interest in and to any and all commissions to which UUI was entitled under the Brokerage Agreement. (Record, Page 122, Assignment, Record, Page 93.)

11. In conformance with their prior dealings, UUI authorized LOV to credit the commissions against the amount of the balance of UUI's obligation to LOV with no reference to any default. The entire balance of the loan was to be paid in this manner. Record, Page 93.)

12. West One never gave LOV "written notice" to pay West One pursuant to the Assignment at any time in the more than four years after giving LOV the Notice of Assignment. Response to Request For Production of Document No. 5, Record, p. 96.

13. On June 19, 1992, West One filed a complaint alleged that UUI was in default under the terms of the Note and Pledge Agreement without identifying when the default occurred.

14. Until shortly before the filing of this action by West One, LOV was unaware of UUI's default on its obligations to West One. (Record, Pages 73, 123.)

15. LOV asserted theories of waiver, estoppel and ineffective notice in its answer. (Record, Pages 14-15.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

**BECAUSE WEST ONE'S DID NOT GIVE LOV THE REQUIRED
NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT, ITS SECURITY INTEREST IS
SUBJECT TO LOV'S RIGHT TO RETAIN COMMISSIONS
PURSUANT TO 70A-9-318(1).**

Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-318(1), subject's West One's security interest to any defense or claim of an account debtor which accrues before the account debtor receives notification of the assignment. Because West One did not meet the contractual or statutory requirements for a notification of assignment as set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-318(3), West One's security interests are subject to LOV's right to retain commissions as regular payments to recoup \$100,000 advanced to UUI.

POINT II

BECAUSE WEST ONE DID NOT GIVE LOV AN EFFECTIVE NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT, WEST ONE IS NOT ENTITLED TO A "DOUBLE PAYMENT" FOR AMOUNTS ADVANCED TO UUI.

Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-318(3) permits an account debtor like LOV to disregard an assignment for which it does not receive a proper notification of assignment. Since West One did not meet the contractual or statutory requirement of directing LOV to pay the commissions directly to West One, the notice was ineffective, and LOV was entitled as a matter of law to pay the commissions directly to UUI even if the payment was in the form a credit for regular payments on a note.

POINT III

WEST ONE WAIVED OR IS ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING ANY SECURITY INTEREST RIGHTS TO COMMISSIONS RETAINED BY LOV.

Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-306(2) provides that a secured interest may be lost if the secured party authorizes a sale, exchange or other disposition of the collateral. Since common law principles apply to U.C.C. transactions unless stated otherwise, West One's rights were subject to waiver or estoppel. West One either waived its security interests or is estopped from asserting them through its course of dealing and LOV's reliance on West One's representations and actions.

POINT IV

SINCE WEST ONE'S REMEDIES UNDER BOTH THE ASSIGNMENT AND U.C.C. ACCRUE ONLY UPON DEFAULT, IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT ANY EVIDENCE AS TO THE DATE OF DEFAULT.

Since West One's security interest was in the form of an assignment, its only remedy until UUI defaulted, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-501 et seq., was to direct LOV to pay West One directly. West One never gave any instruction to be paid directly, and therefore West One was not entitled to any commissions until UUI defaulted under the assignment or underlying note payable to West One. Since West One did not present evidence of when any alleged default occurred, it was error for the trial court to grant summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

BECAUSE WEST ONE'S DID NOT GIVE LOV THE REQUIRED NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT, ITS SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO LOV'S RIGHT TO RETAIN COMMISSIONS PURSUANT TO 70A-9-318(1).

A. The Assignment was not Effective Because LOV Did Not Receive An Effective Notice of Assignment.

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-318(3) defines an effective assignment as follows:

The account debtor [here, LOV] is authorized to pay the assignor [here UUI] until the account debtor receives notification that the amount due or to become due has been assigned

and that payment is to be made to the assignee [here, West One].

Thus in order for there to be an effective assignment under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-318(3), the account debtor must be notified of two things. "First, he must receive notice that the "amount due or to become due has been assigned," second, the account debtor must also be notified that "payment is to be made to the assignee." Haas v. Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Inc., 617 F.2d 1136 (5th Cir. 1980).¹

In this case, West One met the first requirement but not the second because West One never directed LOV to make payments directly to West One. West One's own documents postponed the second element to a time contingent on West One's further affirmative conduct. The Notice of Assignment stated

In connection herewith, upon written notice from [West One], all monies due or to become due under the Contract described above are to be paid to [West One] pursuant to this Assignment. (Emphasis added).

Statement of Facts. The Trial Court failed to hold West One to its statutory and contractual limitations as an assignee.

¹ See also, Kirby v. Palos Verdes Escrow Co. Inc., 227 Cal. Rptr. 785 (1986); Vacura v. Haar's Equip. Inc., 364 N.W.2d 387 (Minn. 1985); Warrington v. Dawson, 798 F.2d 1533 (5th Cir. 1986); First Fid. Bank v. Matthews, 692 P.2d 1255 (Mont. 1984); First Trust and Sav. Bank v. Skokie Fed. Sav. and Loan, 466 N.E.2d 1048 (Ill. Ct. App. 1984); Pioneer Commercial Funding v. United Airlines, 122 B.R. 871 (S.D.N.Y 1991).

In Haas, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals found that a Notice of Assignment which stated that payments made under the contract assigned were to be made only as directed in the future was "not a demand certain" and that the Assignment was therefore ineffective. 617 F.2d. at 1140. Here, West One also failed to make a demand certain and its assignment was therefore ineffective.

B. West One's Assignment Is Junior To LOV's Right To Be Paid From Commissions.

Utah's Uniform Commercial Code permitted UUI to assign to LOV its rights in the commissions as a method of retaining the \$100,000 advanced by LOV, notwithstanding West One's purported assignment. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-311 states:

"The debtor's right in collateral may be voluntarily or involuntarily transferred . . . notwithstanding a provision in the Security Agreement prohibiting any transfer or making the transfer constitute a default."

Therefore the March 1, 1989 Agreement between UUI and LOV was not invalid because of any prohibition in the purported West One assignment. Moreover, as provided by Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-318(1) and the very terms of West One's own documents, West One's assignment is subject to the March 1, 1989 agreement which gave LOV the right to retain commissions as a method of repayment of the \$100,000 loan to UUI, until West One declared a default by UUI and notified LOV to make commission payments to

West One. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-318(1) provides that the right of an assignee are subject to "any other defense or claim of the account debtor against the assignor which accrues before the account debtor receives notification of the assignment.

(Emphasis added.)"

Without an effective assignment, LOV acquired a defense against West One's claims of priority when it entered into the March 1989 agreement which allowed it to collect the \$100,000 advanced to UUI with credits to the commissions payable to UUI. Therefore, LOV was entitled to retain the commissions notwithstanding West One's claimed interest.

C. A Form UCC-1 Financing Statement Does Not Constitute An Effective Notice of Assignment.

West One argued below that by filing its UCC-1 financing statement, the world was put on notice of its claim to commissions. However, the Utah Supreme Court has held that the filing of a financing statement does not constitute notice of an assignment to an account debtor. Bank of Salt Lake v. Corporation of President of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, 534 P.2d 887, 889 (Utah 1975). The rationale is obvious: a security interest enforceable only upon default and execution is not the same as a present right to payment as a bona fide assignee.

POINT II

BECAUSE WEST ONE DID NOT GIVE LOV AN EFFECTIVE NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT, LOV IS NOT NOW REQUIRED TO MAKE A "DOUBLE PAYMENT" TO WEST ONE FOR COMMISSIONS PAID TO UUI IN THE FORM OF A CREDIT AGAINST AMOUNTS ADVANCED TO UUI.

Official Comment 3 to Section 9-318 of the Uniform Commercial Code provides:

"So long as the assignee permits the assignor to collect claims . . ., the account debtor may pay the assignor even though he may know of the assignment. In such a situation, an assignee who wants to take over collections must notify the account debtor to make further payments to him."

As discussed in Point I, supra., instead of notifying LOV that payment of the commissions were to be made directly to assignee West One, the notice only advised LOV that it would be required to make such payments at some indefinite time in the future and then only upon written notice.

Therefore the assignment was ineffective and LOV is entitled to the protection afforded by 70A-9-318(3). The clear purpose of 70A-9-318(3) is to prevent an account debtor from having to make double payments. Pioneer Commercial Funding, 122 B.R. 871, 882 (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (cites omitted).

Here, LOV advanced UUI \$100,000 which was presumably used by UUI to keep the West One Note current. If LOV were required to again pay that amount plus interest to West One after

having given credit against commissions to UUI then West One would receive a possible double benefit. An underlying principle of the UCC established in Utah Code Ann. § 70A-1-106 is that although aggrieved parties be reimbursed for actual damages, no punitive damages should be awarded. First Security Bank v. Utah Turkey Growers, Inc., 610 P.2d 329 (Utah 1980). To allow West One to recover twice would be punitive to LOV, since West One would obtain funds in excess of any actual damages caused by LOV. The trial court was therefore in error in granting summary judgment on this issue.

POINT III

WEST ONE WAIVED OR IS ESTOPPED FROM EXERCISING ANY SECURITY INTEREST RIGHTS TO COMMISSIONS RETAINED BY LOV.

Contrary to the conclusion reached by the Trial Court that a perfected security interest gave West One priority over "anyone, anywhere, anyhow," common law equitable principles do apply to and do mitigate UCC transactions. Allstate Financial Corp. vs. Dundee Mills, Inc., 800 F.2d. 1073, 1075 (11th Cir. 1986).

This concept is explicit in the UCC. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-1-103 (1990) states in relevant part:

Unless displaced by the particular provisions of this Act, the principles of law and equity, including ... the law relative to capacity to contract, principal and agent,

estoppel, fraud, misrepresentation, duress, coercion, mistake, bankruptcy, or other validating or invalidating cause shall supplement its provisions. (Emphasis added.)

Thus, the common law principals of waiver and estoppel apply in this case.

A. West One Waived Its Security Interest Rights.

Waiver is an intentional relinquishment of a known right, and to waive a right

The parties' actions or conduct must evince unequivocally an intent to waive, or must be inconsistent with any other intent.

Barnes vs. Wood, 750 P.2d. 1226, 1230 (Utah App. 1988). Citing Hunter vs. Hunter, 659 P.2d. 430, 432 (Utah 1983). Whether a right has been waived is generally a question of fact. Id.

The Uniform Commercial Code provides that a secured party's actions will be considered a waiver of its interest in collateral under certain circumstances. Section 70A-9-306(2) Utah Code Ann. provides:

"[A] Security interest continues in collateral notwithstanding sale, exchange or other disposition thereof unless the disposition was authorized by secured party in the Security Agreement or otherwise . . ." (Emphasis added.)

Although the Security Agreement between West One and UUI did not give UUI express authority to dispose of the collateral, a genuine issue of fact exists as to whether West One "authorized"

disposition of the collateral by waiver or estoppel. Courts have held that a security interest can be lost pursuant to U.C.C. § 9-306(2) by waiver. A waiver can be implied from the "circumstances of the parties, the nature of the collateral, the course of dealing of the parties, the usage of the trade." Mid-States Sales vs. Mt. Empire Dairyman's, 741 P.2d. 342, 345 (Colo. App. 1987). And, it makes no difference that LOV rather than UUI disposed of the collateral. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(2) as adopted by the Utah Legislature does not contain the specification of a disposition "by the debtor" included in some earlier counterparts to Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(2). Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(2); see also Mid-States Sales, 741 P.2d. at 345.

In Mid-State Sales, the Colorado Court of Appeals found that where an assignee failed to object over a period of fourteen (14) months to an account debtor's distribution of proceeds, including offsetting expenses under a contract for delivery of milk, the assignee was deemed to have waived its security interest in the proceeds. Mid-State Sales, 741 P.2d. at 345-346; see also Haas vs. Metro Goldwyn-Mayer, Inc., 617 F.2d. 1136 (5th Cir. 1980); Utah Code Ann. 70A-1-205 (1990). Here West One specifically waived its right to its assignment by failing to

direct LOV to pay it directly, and further failing to give any such direction for over four (4) years.

B. Estoppel.

The elements of estoppel are "conduct by one party which leads another party, in reliance thereon, to adopt its course of action resulting in detriment or damage if the first party is permitted to repudiate his conduct." Barnes vs. Wood, supra, 750 P.2d. at 1230. The intent to relinquish a right can be implied from conduct, if the party's conduct is "inconsistent with any other intent." Beckstead vs. Deseret Roofing Co., Inc., 831 P.2d. 130, 133 (Utah Appeals 1992).

West One failed to object to LOV either paying commissions directly to LOV for over four (4) years or retaining part of the commissions in 1989 and 1990 per its agreement with UUI. Not only did West One fail to give LOV any such direction, it effectively gave LOV notice that the assignment could be ignored until it received further written directions, Statement of Facts, ¶ 6, the Notice of Assignment, which was ineffective as an assignment, cleared LOV to continue to pay commissions directly to UUI until further notice. Nor did West One, at any time attempt to exercise its rights under its own security agreement because of the default of UUI. West One has still presented no evidence of when UUI become in default.

POINT IV

SINCE WEST ONE'S REMEDIES UNDER BOTH THE ASSIGNMENT AND UCC ACCRUE ONLY UPON DEFAULT, IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT ANY EVIDENCE AS TO THE DATE OF DEFAULT.

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