1993

West One Bank, Utah v. Life Insurance Company of Virginia : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Appellant unlawfully interfered with West One's prior, perfected security interest in UUI's accounts receivable. The law in Utah is clear: An Article Nine secured creditor with a prior perfected security interest has priority over "anyone,

anywhere, anyhow." Insley Manufacturing Corp. v. Draper Bank & Trust, 717 P.2d 1341 (Utah 1986). When Life of Virginia set off UUI's obligation with funds it owed UUI, it was acting as a creditor of UUI in derogation of West One's rights. The fact that appellant was also an account debtor of UUI does not alter the rules of priority as between two creditors. As an account debtor, Life of Virginia was authorized to pay UUI until it was instructed to pay West One directly. Life of Virginia was not authorized to apply West One's collateral to satisfy a debt owed by UUI to itself.

2. Appellant's Statement of Issues is misleading and incorrect, and the matters being raised by appellant for the first time should not be considered on appeal.

a. Appellant's right of set off did not accrue before it received the notice of assignment from West One.

Appellant's statement that "[appellant's] right ... to retain commissions ... accrued before [it] received notice of assignment" is wholly incorrect and unsupported by the record. The undisputed evidence is directly contrary to this assertion: Appellant received West One's Notice of Assignment in December 1987. Brief of Appellant, p. 3. Appellant loaned funds to UUI in March 1989 and later that year set off UUI's obligation by retaining commissions it owed UUI. Id. at p. 4. West One's rights as a secured creditor

were perfected in 1988, prior to the time appellant became a creditor of UUI and therefor prior to the time appellant's right of set off accrued.

b. West One will not receive a "double payment."

There is simply no evidence to support appellant's assertion that West One will reap a double benefit if appellant is required to turn over to West One the funds it set off. Appellant "presumes" that UUI used the funds it borrowed from appellant to make payments to West One. There is absolutely no evidence regarding UUI's use of the borrowed funds and appellant's "double payment" theory is meritless and irrelevant.

c. West One's rights as a secured creditor were perfected upon filing; they were not "exercisable only on default of UUI," and the "failure to establish the date of default by UUI" is irrelevant. Appellant is attempting to inject immaterial issues of fact into this appeal. It has never been disputed that West One perfected its security interest in UUI's receivables long before appellant used the funds it owed UUI to set off UUI's obligations.

d. Appellant's argument should be limited to the matters presented to the trial court. Appellant's argument to the trial court was that § 70A-9-318(3), Utah Code Ann. allows an account debtor to subordinate

an assignee's prior perfected security interest unless the account debtor is specifically instructed to pay the assignee. Alternatively, appellant argued, because West One gave appellant notice of its assignment, West One became "contractually obligated" to notify appellant of UUI's default. See generally Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, filed January 8, 1993. These are the only questions of law that are properly before the Court.

ARGUMENT

1. LIFE OF VIRGINIA UNLAWFULLY INTERFERED
WITH WEST ONE'S SECURITY INTEREST IN
UUI'S ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Life of Virginia has apparently confused its rights as an account debtor with its rights as a creditor. As an account debtor, Life of Virginia had the right, indeed the obligation, to pay UUI the commissions and bonuses that it owed UUI unless and until it received notice from West One to pay West One directly. As a creditor, however, Life of Virginia's right to set off UUI's debt with amounts that it owed UUI was subordinate to West One's prior, perfected security interest.

The law in Utah, as well as the overwhelming majority of other jurisdictions, is that a creditor's perfected security interest in collateral has priority over any subsequent right of setoff. See, e.g., Insley Manufacturing Corp. v. Draper Bank &

Trust, 717 P.2d 1341 (Utah 1986). See also Pioneer Commercial Funding Corp. v. United Airlines, Inc., 122 Bankr. 871 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1991), In re Apex Oil Company, 975 F.2d 1365 (8th Cir. 1992), First National Bank and Trust Co. of Oklahoma v. Iowa Beef Processors, Inc., 626 F.2d 764 (10th Cir. 1980), Griffin v. Continental American Life Insurance Co., 722 F.2d 671 (11th Cir. 1984). See also Annotation, Effect of UCC Article 9 Upon Conflict as to Funds in Debtor's Bank Account Between Secured Creditor and Bank Claiming Right of Setoff, 3 A.L.R. 4th 998 (1978). This position reflects the general rule that the rights of a secured creditor in collateral are greater than those of any other creditor, except as otherwise set forth in Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code. White & Summers, Uniform Commercial Code § 25-2 (1980).

The Utah Supreme Court's decision in Insley Manufacturing is controlling in this case. There, Insley sold a backhoe to Schneider Machinery Sales, receiving a security interest in the backhoe and its proceeds, which it properly perfected. Schneider sold the backhoe to a third party and deposited the proceeds in its account at Draper Bank & Trust ("Draper"). Because Schneider was in default on an obligation to Draper, Draper used the proceeds to set off the unsecured obligation of Schneider to the bank, rendering Schneider unable to pay Insley for the backhoe.

Insley sued Draper, asserting that its security interest in the proceeds of the backhoe was superior to Draper's right of setoff, and that Draper's setoff constituted an improper conversion of funds. The Utah Supreme Court agreed. After a detailed discussion of the applicability of the Uniform Commercial Code to a right of setoff, the Court concluded that "the Code's priority rules require that Insley's interest must prevail over Draper's right of setoff.... The effect of [UCC Section 9-201] is to give the Article Nine secured party, upon a debtor's default, priority over 'anyone, anywhere, anyhow,' except as otherwise provided by the remaining Code priority rules." Insley Manufacturing, 717 P.2d at 1347 (emphasis added) (quoting Continental American Life Insurance Co. v. Griffin, 306 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ga. 1983)).

West One's perfected security interest in commissions due from Life of Virginia to UUI is undisputed. Its UCC-1 financing statement put the world on notice of its claim to these commissions. West One took the additional precaution of giving Life of Virginia specific notice of its assignment from UUI, which Life of Virginia acknowledged in December 1987, more than a year before it loaned money to UUI. As a secured party, West One's prior perfected interest in the commissions is clearly superior to Life of Virginia's right of setoff.

Life of Virginia has attempted to make an issue of the fact that West One did not direct Life of Virginia to make

payments directly to West One. Life of Virginia again fails to recognize the critical distinction between its role as an account debtor and its role as a creditor. Although West One may have had the right to request direct payments, it had absolutely no obligation to do so, and it was fully entitled to rely on the strength of its prior perfected security interest. As an account debtor, Life of Virginia had a continuing obligation to pay UUI until it received notice from West One to make payments directly to the bank. West One's failure to make such a demand only protects appellant from a claim by West One that appellant should not have paid UUI. Appellant has mistakenly leapt to the conclusion that West One's silence somehow conferred rights of subordination. There is nothing in the case law to support such a conclusion.

It is incumbent on a creditor contemplating setoff to search the records and determine whether the property is subject to a security interest. See National Acceptance Company of America v. Virginia National Bank, 498 Fed. Supp. 1078, 1086 (E.D. Va. 1980) (because bank made no effort to search the appropriate records to determine whether any security interests or financing statements had been filed, it was precluded from exercising any right of setoff and guilty of conversion of secured party's funds). Here, appellant was not even required to search the records to determine if UUI's accounts receivable had been assigned to a creditor. Appellant had previously received

notice and acknowledged West One's existing security interest in UUI's receivables.

On the question of whether an assignee must specifically request payment from the account debtor or risk subordination, Pioneer Commercial Funding Corp. v. United Airlines, Inc., 122 Bankr. 871 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1991), is directly on point. There, Presidential Airways, Inc. ("Presidential") entered a financing contract with Pioneer Commercial Funding Corporation ("Pioneer"). Presidential secured its obligation by an assignment of its accounts receivable, which was duly perfected by Pioneer. One of Presidential's major account debtors was United Airlines, Inc. ("United"). Pioneer Commercial Funding, 122 Bankr. at 875.

Prior to the financing arrangement between Presidential and Pioneer, Presidential borrowed \$3.5 million from United on an unsecured basis. When Presidential defaulted on its obligation to United, United set off the amount it owed to Presidential and applied it to Presidential's outstanding debt. Pioneer filed an action against United alleging conversion and tortious interference with contract, claiming that United knew of the assignment when it took the setoff. Id. at 876. United defended the action under a number of theories, including Pioneer's failure to specifically demand payment from United. Id. at 882.

Interpreting § 70A-9-318(3) of New York's Uniform Commercial Code, which is identical to § 70A-9-318(3), Utah Code

Ann., the Court declared United's position to be erroneous: "United then takes a drastic, and unsupported, leap to its contention that since Pioneer does not allege making such a payment demand, a fortiori, its rights are subordinated to those of United.... This view is simply erroneous." Id.

Life of Virginia is attempting to take the same drastic and unsupported leap in its logic. There is no dispute that West One did not deliver a payment demand directly to appellant as an account debtor. West One agrees that appellant never had an obligation to pay West One directly. Nevertheless, appellant had an obligation as a creditor to apprise itself of prior perfected security interests before exercising a setoff. As the holder of a valid first priority perfected security interest in commissions due from Life of Virginia, West One's rights are superior to "anyone, anywhere, anyhow," including Life of Virginia. See Insley Manufacturing, 717 P.2d at 1347.

2. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF ISSUES IS MISLEADING AND INCORRECT, AND MATTERS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED.

Most of appellant's "issues," and a large part of its arguments, are wholly unsupported by the record and should not be considered by the Court. See Uckerman v. Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 588 P.2d 142 (Utah 1978) (appellate court will not consider any facts not properly cited to or supported by the record).

Moreover, this matter was submitted to the trial court on joint motions for summary judgment. There are no disputed

facts. Appellant's only arguments to the trial court were that § 70A-9-318(3), Utah Code Ann. allows an account debtor to subordinate an assignee's prior perfected security interest unless it is specifically instructed to pay the assignee, and that West One's notice of assignment "contractually obligated" West One to notify appellant of UUI's default.

Appellant now claims that its right to retain commissions accrued before it received the notice of UUI's assignment to West One, that West One will reap a "double benefit" if appellant is required to disgorge the commissions, and that West One's rights were exercisable only on UUI's default. These arguments were never raised in the trial court, and they should not be considered on appeal.¹ See Lane v. Messer, 731 P.2d 488 (Utah 1986) (issue not raised by pleadings and not addressed by trial court may not be raised for first time on appeal).

Appellant relies heavily on a case from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, Haas v. Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Inc., 617 F.2d 1136 (5th Cir. 1980), for its argument that West One's notice of assignment was insufficient. Appellant neglects to mention that the account debtor in Haas

¹ Appellant vaguely suggests that its loan to UUI was "presumably" used by UUI to keep its note to West One current. It also attempts to equate its setoff with actual payment to UUI. Both of these arguments ignore the record in this case, statutory authority, and the governing case law.

actually paid the assignor, not another creditor. See Haas, 617 F.2d at 1139. If appellant had paid the assignor (UUI), West One would not have a claim against appellant. But appellant paid itself, an unsecured creditor, by retaining funds subject to West One's perfected security interest.


Finally, appellant attempts to rely on § 70A-9-311, Utah Code Ann. for the proposition that West One's perfected security interest could be "involuntarily transferred" to Life of Virginia. Appellant's reliance is misplaced. Section 70A-9-311 deals with the rights of a debtor, not an assignee. It provides: "The debtor's rights in collateral may be voluntarily or involuntarily transferred (by way of sale, creation of a security interest, attachment, levy, garnishment, or other judicial process) notwithstanding a provision in the security agreement prohibiting any transfer or making the transfer constitute a default." In March 1989, when appellant took an assignment from UUI, UUI had nothing left to convey, either voluntarily or involuntarily, because its rights had already been assigned to West One. See Calimari & Perillo, Contracts (West 2d Ed. 1977), § 18-16 at p. 650 (Once assignee's rights are vested by proper notice to account debtor, assignee's rights are vested and can not be altered by the assignor or the account debtor).

CONCLUSION

Appellant's misplaced reliance on § 70A-9-318(3) does not affect the relative priorities of creditors. The fatal

weakness in appellant's case is revealed in paragraph 10 of appellant's Statement of Facts: "On or about March 1, 1989 ... UUI assigned to [appellant] all of its right, title and interest in and to any and all commissions to which UUI was entitled." In March 1989 UUI had no right, title or interest in those commissions because it had already assigned them to West One. See 4 Corbin on Contracts (West 1960) § 902 at p. 615-16 ("By the first assignment, the right became [the first assignee's], so that at the time of the second assignment, the assignor had no rights and could therefore transfer none.") Appellant knew this because it had actual notice of UUI's prior assignment to West One. The holding in Insley Manufacturing should govern the disposition of this case. Appellant asks the Court to ignore the Utah Supreme Court's holding in Insley Manufacturing and overturn the trial court's decision. The trial court properly considered applicable statutes and governing case law and concluded that the rights of a party asserting a right of setoff are subordinate to those of a secured creditor. That decision was correct, and West One respectfully requests the Court to affirm the trial court's decision.